Gene therapy for choroideremia using an adenoassociated viral vector encoding Rab escort protein 1: the REGENERATE open-label trial

Jasmina Cehajic-Kapetanovic,^{1,2,3} Marco P Bellini,^{1,3} Laura J Taylor,^{1,2,3} Imran H Yusuf,^{1,2,3} Taha Soomro,^{4,5,6} Lyndon da Cruz^{4,5,6} and Robert E MacLaren;^{1,2,3*} REGENERATE Study Group

¹Nuffield Department of Clinical Neurosciences, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK
²Oxford Eye Hospital, Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Oxford, UK
³NIHR Oxford Biomedical Research Centre, Oxford, UK
⁴Institute of Ophthalmology, University College London (UCL), London, UK
⁵Moorfields Eye Hospital, Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK
⁶NIHR Moorfields Biomedical Research Centre, London, UK

*Corresponding author enquiries@eye.ox.ac.uk

Published May 2024 DOI: 10.3310/WARA5730

Plain language summary

Gene therapy for choroideremia using an adeno-associated viral vector encoding Rab escort protein 1: the REGENERATE open-label trial

Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation 2024; Vol. 11: No. 9 DOI: 10.3310/WARA5730

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Plain language summary

Choroideremia is a rare eye disease caused by a defective gene that prevents the cells in the retina, the light-sensitive layer at the back of the eye, from functioning normally. The disease usually affects males, although females can also develop the disease. In childhood, choroideremia patients initially experience 'night blindness', or difficulty in seeing in low light. As the disease progresses, there is a gradual loss in the peripheral vision, eventually resulting in 'tunnel vision' and finally in complete blindness by late adulthood.

The aim of this study was to investigate if gene therapy was able to prevent further vision loss in patients suffering from choroideremia. The gene therapy for choroideremia uses a modified non-pathogenic virus, called a viral vector, to carry healthy copies of the affected gene into the retinal cells and thereby help the cells to function normally. Thirty male participants from two NHS eye hospitals took part in the study. Each participant received gene therapy in one eye, with the other eye left untreated for purposes of comparison. The condition and function of the treated and untreated (control) eyes were then monitored at regular time points over a 24-month period.

A meaningful difference in the comparative rate of vision loss in the treated and control eyes was not observed during the 24-month assessment period of this study. However, it should be noted that choroideremia is a very slow degeneration and vision loss in the control eyes did not decline significantly during this period. Three participants experienced worse vision in their treated eyes, including one case of sight loss caused by severe inflammation that did not respond to medication. Additional data are being collected in a follow-on observational study to track the long-term progress of retinal degeneration in the treated eyes and control eyes of the participants.

Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation

ISSN 2050-4373 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation (EME) was launched in 2014 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, Ulrichsweb[™] (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and NCBI Bookshelf.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full EME archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/eme.

Criteria for inclusion in the Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation journal

Manuscripts are published in *Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation* (EME) if (1) they have resulted from work for the EME programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

EME programme

The Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation (EME) programme funds ambitious studies evaluating interventions that have the potential to make a step-change in the promotion of health, treatment of disease and improvement of rehabilitation or long-term care. Within these studies, EME supports research to improve the understanding of the mechanisms of both diseases and treatments.

The programme supports translational research into a wide range of new or repurposed interventions. These may include diagnostic or prognostic tests and decision-making tools, therapeutics or psychological treatments, medical devices, and public health initiatives delivered in the NHS.

The EME programme supports clinical trials and studies with other robust designs, which test the efficacy of interventions, and which may use clinical or well-validated surrogate outcomes. It only supports studies in humans and where there is adequate proof of concept. The programme encourages hypothesis-driven mechanistic studies, integrated within the efficacy study, that explore the mechanisms of action of the intervention or the disease, the cause of differing responses, or improve the understanding of adverse effects. It funds similar mechanistic studies linked to studies funded by any NIHR programme.

The EME programme is funded by the Medical Research Council (MRC) and the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR), with contributions from the Chief Scientist Office (CSO) in Scotland and National Institute for Social Care and Health Research (NISCHR) in Wales and the Health and Social Care Research and Development (HSC R&D), Public Health Agency in Northern Ireland.

This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the EME programme as award number 12/66/35. The contractual start date was in August 2015. The draft manuscript began editorial review in October 2023 and was accepted for publication in December 2023. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The EME editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research. The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the MRC, the EME programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the EME programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2024 Cehajic-Kapetanovic *et al.* This work was produced by Cehajic-Kapetanovic *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).